IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

FILEI SID J. WHITE APR 3 1996

017

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Ðy _ Grief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. 87,530, 87,543 (consolidated)

v.

MICHAEL GIBSON,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

MERITS BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF, CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 0325791 GISELLE LYLEN RIVERA ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0508012

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Petitioner, the State of Florida, was the prosecution in the trial court and the Appellee below; the brief will refer to the Petitioner as the State. The Respondent, Michael Gibson, was the defendant in the trial court and the Appellant below; this brief will refer to the Respondent as the defendant.

The symbol "R" will refer to the record on appeal and the symbol "T" will refer to the transcript of trial court proceedings. Each symbol is followed by the appropriate page number.

All bold-type emphasis is supplied, and all other emphasis is contained within original quotations unless the contrary is indicated.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Article V, Section 3(b)(4) of the Florida Constitution provides, in pertinent part, that the Supreme Court

[m] ay review any decision of a district court of appeal that passes upon a question certified by it to be of great public importance...

Similarly, Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(v) provides that the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court may be sought to review

- 1 -

decisions of a district court of appeal which "pass upon a question certified to be of great public importance."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The historical facts, as established by the opinion of the First District Court of Appeal, dated February 6, 1996 are as follows:

Michael E. Gibson, the appellant, was charged in an eight-count information with armed burglary of a dwelling (Count I), armed kidnaping (II), attempted first-degree felony murder (III), armed robbery (IV), and sexual battery with a deadly weapon (V through VIII). The jury found him not guilty of armed kidnaping and guilty as charged in Count I and Counts III through VIII. We affirm the judgment and sentence as to Count I and Counts IV through VIII. We reverse the conviction in Count III and remand with directions to dismiss that count and to conduct any further proceedings authorized pursuant to State v. Gray, 654 So. 2d 552, 554 (Fla. 1995), and State v. Grinage, 656 So. 2d 457, 458 (Fla. 1995), in which the Florida Supreme Court held that attempted felony murder is no longer a crime in Florida. Perea v. State, 657 So. 2d 8, 9 (Fla. 3d DCA) (supplemental opinion in light of Gray, on state's motion for rehearing), rev. den., 663 So. 2d 632 (Fla. 1995). As to the matter of attempted first-degree felony murder and the available opinion, if any, upon remand, we certify the same question of great public importance raised in Alfonso v. State, 661 So. 2d 308, 309 (Fla. 3d DCA) (on motion for rehearing and certification), cause dism., --- So. 2d --- (Fla. 29, 1995)...

Like the defendant in <u>Alfonso</u>, the appellant was convicted of attempted first-degree felony murder.

Neither <u>Gray</u> nor <u>Grinage</u> addressed whether, after a conviction for attempted felony murder is vacated, lesser-included offenses remain viable for a new trial or for a reduction of the offense. We recognize that this type of question will arise, and that conflicting results are likely to be reached, in the numerous other cases affected by <u>Gray</u> and <u>Grinage</u>. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Selway</u> <u>v. State</u>, 660 So. 2d 1176 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995); <u>Wilson</u> <u>v. State</u>, 660 So. 2d 1067 (Fla. 3d DCA 3d DCA 1995) (on motion for rehearing and certification); <u>Williams v.</u> <u>State</u>, 657 So. 2d 80 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995). Accordingly, we certify the same question presented by the Third District Court in <u>Alfonso</u>, 661 So. 2d at 309: WHEN A CONVICTION FOR ATTEMPTED FIRST-DEGREE

WHEN A CONVICTION FOR ATTEMPTED FIRST-DEGREE FELONY MURDER MUST BE VACATED ON AUTHORITY OF <u>STATE V. GRAY</u>, 654 So. 2d 552 (FLA. 1995), DO LESSER-INCLUDED OFFENSES REMAIN VIABLE FOR A NEW TRIAL OR REDUCTION OF THE OFFENSE? 21 Fla. L. Weekly at D358.

The lower court affirmed the case in all other respects and reversed and remanded solely as to the attempted felony first degree murder charge.

The State brings the issue before this Court based upon the question certified below.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Court should answer the question yes and hold that reversal of a conviction pursuant to <u>Gray</u> does not preclude retrial for either attempted premeditated first degree murder or any lesser offense. Case law holds that original jeopardy continues while a conviction is on appeal, that reversal of a conviction on appeal, where the evidence is sufficient to uphold the conviction, does not interrupt jeopardy, and that an appellant/defendant who successfully obtains a reversal of a conviction may be retried. There is no double jeopardy bar to such reprosecution. These rules of law are particularly apropos where convicted criminals, as here, have received a beneficent change in appellate law overturning settled law of long duration.

- 4 -

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHEN A CONVICTION FOR ATTEMPTED FIRST-DEGREE FELONY MURDER MUST BE VACATED ON AUTHORITY OF <u>STATE V. GRAY</u>, 654 So. 2d 552 (FLA. 1995), DO LESSER-INCLUDED OFFENSES REMAIN VIABLE FOR A NEW TRIAL OR REDUCTION OF THE OFFENSE?

In Amlotte v. State, 456 So. 2d 448 (Fla. 1984) this Court interpreted section 777.04(1), Florida Statutes (1981) as creating a criminal offense of "attempted first degree murder done in the felony murder mode." Amlotte at 449. Eleven years later, although the legislature had not acted to correct this Court's interpretation of the statute and the statute remained as it was at the time of Amlotte, this Court reinterpreted the statute in Gray and determined that it did not create an offense of attempted first degree felony murder. This partly retrospective, partly prospective, judicial repeal of the statutory criminal offense was made applicable to all cases on direct appeal or not yet final. The abrupt 180 degree turn in the law has created confusion in the law. The district courts have not only applied the actual holding of Gray to overturn jury verdicts of attempted first degree felony murder, they have gone further and held that the decision precludes conviction or

- 5 -

prosecution for alternative offenses to attempted first degree felony murder. Although <u>Gray</u> violated at least three basic principles of statutory interpretation¹, the State will not now attempt to persuade the Court that it should reverse the decision in <u>Gray</u> and return the law to that enacted by the legislature as interpreted by <u>Amlotte</u> and relied on by all concerned, particularly prosecutors, for some eleven years. Instead, the State will simply argue that the good faith prosecution and conviction for the then extant criminal offense of attempted first degree felony murder does not bar the State from prosecuting and convicting criminals for other alternative offenses. The certified question should be answered yes.

^{&#}x27;These three principles, so well-settled as to require no citation, are (1) a court interpreting a statute or rule close in time to its enactment is presumed to be more familiar with legislative purpose and intent than a subsequent court interpreting the statute or rule after a lengthy lapse of time, (2) a decision of the legislature not to overturn a judicial interpretation of a statutes indicates that the judicial interpretation is correct and should not be overturned, and (3) stare decisis is critical to the stability and integrity of the law. For an example of the continuing mischief which occurs when these principles are violated, see the ongoing saga of Batilla v. Allis Chalmers Manufacturing, 392 So. 2d 874 (Fla. 1981); Pullum v. Cincinnati, Inc., 476 So. 2d 657 (Fla. 1985); Firestone Tire & Rubber Co. V. Acosta, 612 So. 2d 1361 (Fla. 1992); and Mosher v. Speedstar Div. Of AMCA INT. Inc, 52 F. 3d 913 (11th U.S.C.A 1995).

The district court in this case, as it was required to do by <u>Gray</u>, reversed and remanded the defendant's conviction for attempted first degree felony murder. Because of its uncertainty on the full import of <u>Gray</u>, and its reluctance to prohibit retrial on other alternative offenses, the district court certified the same question as that certified by the Third District Court of Appeal in <u>Alfonso v. State</u>, 661 So. 2d 308 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995), <u>cause dismissed</u>, _____ So. 2d ____ (Fla. 1995) and <u>Wilson v. State</u>, 660 So. 2d 1067 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995).

In <u>Alfonso</u> and <u>Wilson</u>, the court reversed and remanded the defendants' convictions for attempted first degree felony murder and discharged them from all criminal liability based on the irrelevant truism that "there can be no lesser-included offenses under a non-existent offense such as attempted first degree felony murder." 660 So. 2d at 1069. The State asserts that the reversal of a conviction for an offense, whether existent or nonexistent, does not preclude conviction or retrial for other existent offenses. The trial courts did <u>not</u> err in instructing on lesser included offenses, they would have erred had they not done so. The fact that this Court changed its view on whether there is an offense of attempted felony murder does not taint the other offenses. The reversal of a conviction for the charged

- 7 -

higher offense does not preclude either retrial on other offenses or affirmation of convictions for lesser included offenses already obtained.

Attempted first degree murder and first degree murder may be charged as general offenses and the jury alternatively instructed under both premeditated and felony theories. Would <u>Gray</u> mandate reversal of a conviction for attempted first degree murder if the evidence supported a verdict of attempted premeditated first degree murder during the commission of a felony? Not at all.

This conclusion is fully consistent with decisions of this Court on cases involving an indictment of first degree murder where the case is submitted to the jury for its determination upon alternative theories of premeditated and first degree murder and the jury returns a general verdict of guilty as charged. Where the evidence adduced at trial supports a verdict of guilt on one of the two theories of the case, courts have refused to substitute their opinion of the evidence for that of the jury. <u>Atwater v. State</u>, 626 So. 2d 1325, 1327-1328, n. 1, (Fla. 1993), cert. denied, ______, 114 S. Ct. 1578, 128 L. Ed. 2d 221 (1994). Similarly, in cases in which a verdict of guilty of attempted first degree murder has been entered, if the evidence supports a verdict on premeditated attempted first, then no court

- 8 -

should replace the fact finding authority of the jury and determine that the conviction was based upon an underlying felony which necessitates reversal. Certainly, they should not reverse and prohibit retrial.

An analogy is found in <u>Cooper v. State</u>, 547 So. 2d 1239 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), in which Cooper was convicted of the nonexistent offense of attempted manslaughter by culpable negligence. In that case, the District Court agreed

with the appellant that the trial court erred in instructing the jury on attempted manslaughter by culpable negligence, a non-existent crime in Florida. *Taylor v. State*, 444 So. 2d 931 (Fla. 1983). Although the trial court also instructed the jury on attempted manslaughter by act, a crime that is recognized by Florida law, the trial court went astray when it informed the jury that the case at hand was one involving culpable negligence. 547 So. 2d at 1239.

Thus the key to the result in <u>Cooper</u> was the trial court's act of informing the jury that the case involved attempted manslaughter by culpable negligence, which, in essence, limited the jury's consideration to the non-existent crime as a basis for its verdict. The necessary implication of the decision in that case is that had the court not so instructed the jury, reversible error would not have occurred.

-9-

Other cases in which courts have applied <u>Gray</u> to convictions of attempted felony first degree murder present one of two types of situations. The first, as here, occurs where a defendant is charged with and convicted of attempted first degree felony murder. The second situation occurs where the defendant is charged with attempted felony first degree murder, but is convicted of some lesser degree crime. There is no bar in either situation to conviction or retrial on other existent offenses.

The defendant in the instant case was charged with and convicted of the attempted felony first degree murder of his victim. Some courts faced with the exact procedural circumstances at issue here have taken the position, either expressly or by implication, that discharge is required. <u>Harris v. State</u>, 658 So. 2d 1226 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995). This approach is erroneous and conflicts with other appellate decisions of this and other Florida courts which have dealt with the ramifications of convictions for nonexistent offenses and typically found that remand for retrial is the appropriate action.

In <u>State v. Sykes</u>, 434 So. 2d 325 (Fla. 1983), for example, this Court reversed Sykes' conviction for attempted second degree grand theft because the act was a nonexistent crime. The Court, however, held that reprosecution was not barred under principles

- 10 -

of double jeopardy so that discharge was not mandated. Similarly, in <u>Achin v. State</u>, 436 So. 2d 30 (Fla. 1983), Achin was convicted of the nonexistent offense of attempted extortion. After reversing the conviction, this Court approved retrial of Achin on the original charge of extortion, a higher level offense than the charge for which he was convicted. See also: <u>Sponheim v. State</u>, 416 So. 2d 54 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982). <u>Jordan v. State</u>, 438 So. 2d 825 (Fla. 1983) presented a similar situation in which Jordan was charged with resisting arrest with violence, but was convicted of the lesser nonexistent offense of attempted resisting arrest with violence. This Court reversed the conviction for the nonexistent offense, but remanded for retrial on the original offense. See also: <u>Pickett v. State</u>, 573 So. 2d 177 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991)

Another case, <u>Hieke v. State</u>, 605 So. 2d 983 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), presented a situation in which a defendant was found guilty of solicitation to commit third degree murder. After concluding that the conviction was for a nonexistent crime, the Fourth District Court of Appeal remanded for retrial on the lesser included offenses of aggravated battery or battery, as both of those lesser included offenses had been submitted to the jury, which returned the conviction for the nonexistent offense.

- 11 -

Other decisions which have reached similar results and permitted retrial on the original substantive offense after reversal for conviction of a nonexistent crime include Brown v. State, 550 So. 2d 142 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989) and Arline v. State, 550 So. 2d 1180 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989) in which convictions for attempted solicitation to introduce contraband into a correctional institution were reversed and the causes were remanded for retrial on the substantive offenses originally In Cox v. State, 443 So. 2d 1013 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983), charged. the District Court reversed Cox's conviction for the nonexistent offense of attempting to make a false insurance claim and permitted retrial on the substantive offense of making a false insurance claim. The Second District Court of Appeal, in Stephens v. State, 444 So. 2d 498 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986), held that following reversal of the defendant's conviction of the nonexistent crime of the temporary unauthorized use of a motor vehicle, the defendant's retrial was not barred under this Court's decision in Achin, recognizing that conviction of a technically nonexistent crime did not bar retrial where all of the elements of the crime are equal to the elements of the main offense since the jury did not acquit the defendant of the substantive offense.

- 12 -

All of these decisions, with the exception of <u>Hieke</u>, permitted retrial for the original substantive offense which was of a higher degree than the crime for which the appellants were actually convicted. The facts of the instant case are more compelling than those of <u>Hieke</u> for permitting retrial. While Hieke involved an offense which had never been recognized as a valid offense in the State of Florida, this case involves the crime of attempted felony murder, a crime which has been recognized and treated as a valid offense since this Court's decision in Amlotte, over eleven years ago. Unlike Hieke, the criminal offense at issue here was considered to constitute a valid offense at the time it occurred, the time the defendant was charged, the time the defendant was brought to trial, and the time he was convicted. It would be absurd for appellate courts to prohibit reprosecution where the reversed offense existed at the time of trial while permitting retrials where the offense had never been recognized as a valid offense.

The double jeopardy clause furnishes protection against retrial in three distinct situations, none of which apply under the circumstances of this case. It protects against: 1) a second prosecution for the same offense after acquittal, 2) a second prosecution for the same offense after conviction therefore, and

- 13 -

3) multiple punishment for the same offense. Ohio v. Johnson, 467 U.S. 493, 104 S. Ct. 2536, 81 L. Ed. 2d 425 (1984). Reprosecution after conviction, however, refers to subsequent prosecutions which attempt to obtain multiple convictions for the same offense. It has no bearing on the more common situation involving reversal of a conviction, for reasons other than insufficient evidence, following an appeal initiated by the defendant, where jeopardy is continuous, which ultimately results in a retrial upon remand by the appellate court. See e.g., Montana v. Hall, 481 U.S. 400, 107 S. Ct. 1825, 95 L. Ed. 2d 354 (1987) (a defendant who was convicted under an inapplicable statute, following reversal on appeal, could be tried on the correct charge); United States v. Scott, 437 U.S. 82, 90-91, 98 S. Ct. 2187, 57 L. Ed. 2d 65 (1978) ("[t]he successful appeal of a judgment of conviction, on any ground other than the insufficiency of the evidence to support the verdict... poses no bar to further prosecution on the same charge. Achin, supra. Double jeopardy cannot bar retrial where, as here, the information charged a nonexistent offense and both the conviction and sentence were for a nonexistent offense. See Jenkins v. State, 238 P.2d 922 (Md. App. 1968).

- 14 -

Double jeopardy does not bar reprosecution on either the substantive crime of attempted premeditated first degree murder, should the facts of the case be consistent with that charge, or any lesser included offense thereof. The verdict returned in this case was for the highest degree offense the jury was instructed to consider. There was no acquittal of the defendant by the jury for either the offense of attempted first degree felony murder or any possible lesser included offense for which the jury received instruction. Under these circumstances, double jeopardy does not preclude retrial.

This Court, in concluding that its decision in <u>Gray</u> should apply to all convictions which were not yet final, granted Gray and all other similarly situated defendants a benefit not compelled by law. Article X, Section 9, of the Florida Constitution provides that when a criminal statute is repealed, that repeal "shall not affect prosecution or punishment for any crime previously committed." As previously pointed out, the effect of this Court's decision in <u>Gray</u>, by receding from <u>Amlotte</u> which recognized attempted felony murder as a constitutionally valid crime, was analogous to legislative repeal of a statute. Given the fact that such legislative repeal cannot retroactively excuse convictions for previously committed offenses, this Court

- 15 -

could well have concluded that <u>Gray</u> did not affect previously committed offenses. This would have been consistent with the policy grounds on which <u>Gray</u> was based. Having decided to confer on all pipeline defendants the unearned benefits of <u>Gray</u>, such decision should not permit the discharge of defendants from all criminal liability. This is particularly true where, as here, the crime for which the defendant was convicted was a valid offense through the entire prosecution and conviction and for years prior to the commission of the offense.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing analysis, the State respectfully urges this Honorable Court to answer the certified question affirmatively and to order remand for retrial on either the substantive offense, if the facts so permit, or a lesser included offense not inconsistent therewith.