IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

	FDORIDA	SUFREME COU	CI.	ERK, SUPREME COURT
			-,	Only Deputy Olerk
STATE OF FLORIDA,	:			
Petitioner,	:			
v.	:	CASE NOS.	87,530,	87,543
MICHAEL GIBSON,	:			
Respondent.	:			

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

STEVEN A. BEEN Florida Bar No. 335142 Public Defender's Office Leon County Courthouse 301 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 488-2458

FILED

SID J. WHITE APR 29 1996

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

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

- 24 -

defined by Amelotte does not include any lesser offenses.

The state points out that attempted first degree murder may be proved by establishing premeditation, without reference to attempted felony murder. How this is pertinent in this case, in which the information did not allege premeditation, the jury was not instructed on premeditation, and the evidence did not show premeditation, is not clear. The district courts that have considered attempted murder convictions that were submitted to the jury on attempted premeditated and attempted felony murder grounds, have remanded for a new trial on attempted premeditated murder. Humphries v. State, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D2634 (Fla. 5th DCA, Dec. 1, 1995); Harris v. State, 658 So.2d 1226 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995); Tape v. State, 661 So. 2d 1287 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995). Cooper v. State, 547 So.2d 1239 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), rev.den., 560 So.2d 232 (Fla. 1990), cited by the state, reached the same result when the jury was instructed on both attempted manslaughter by act and the non-existent crime of attempted manslaughter by culpable negligence. These cases do not contradict Gibson's position that where only the non-existent theory was charged and submitted to the jury, and there are no lesser included offenses, and none were instructed on, discharge rather than remand for a new trial is required.

The state asserts that precedent requires that when a conviction is reversed because the crime does not exist, the remedy be remand for a new trial. All but one of the cases the state cites, however, involved conviction of attempt as a lesser

- 25 -

included offense of a crime that itself included attempts. State v. Sykes, 434 So. 2d 325 (Fla. 1983), is representative of all these cases. Sykes was charged with grand theft. Attempted grand theft was submitted to the jury as a lesser included offense. This was error because the definition of grand theft includes endeavoring to obtain someone else's property. Thus an attempt to commit grand theft is actually the same crime as grand theft, not a lesser offense. The Court in <u>Sykes</u> could have simply affirmed the conviction, after correcting the statutory degree to reflect that attempted grand theft is grand theft. This is what Justices McDonald and Adkins, dissenting, would have done. Alternatively, the Court could have reversed, not because attempted theft is a non-existent crime, but rather because erroneously telling the jury that attempted theft is a lesser crime interfered with the exercise of the jury pardon power. The majority, however, held that attempted grand theft is a nonexistent offense, conviction of which is fundamental error. It was because conviction of attempted grand theft, whether a nonexistent crime or not, required proof of every element of grand theft, that <u>Sykes</u> properly refused to construe the attempted theft conviction as an acquittal of theft. Thus, given the holding that attempted theft is a non-existent crime, retrial was the only sensible remedy. That <u>Sykes</u> and all the <u>Sykes</u>-type cases the state cited remanded for new trials says nothing about the issue here. Gibson's conviction of attempted felony murder did not establish the elements of any actual crime.

- 26 -

The one case the state cites that does not fall into the <u>Sykes</u> pattern is <u>Hieke v. State</u>, 605 So.2d 983 (Fla 4th DCA 1992). Hieke was charged with solicitation to commit first degree murder and convicted of solicitation to commit third degree felony murder, held to be a non-existent crime. <u>Hieke</u> remanded for retrial of the lesser included offense of aggravated battery or battery "as same were set forth on the verdict form." 605 So.2d 984. The rationale for this remedy was not discussed in <u>Hieke</u>, but in any event, <u>Hieke</u> did not remand for trial of lesser offenses other than the lessers that had been submitted to the jury in the first trial. In this case, as discussed above, there were no such lessers.

The state asserts that the double jeopardy clause does not constitute a bar when reversal of a conviction is on any ground other than insufficiency of the evidence. The evidence of attempted felony murder was insufficient, however, as discussed above. The state chose the crime to charge and the evidence to present, and it failed to prove the charged crime. The double jeopardy clause does operate as a bar to retrial in this situation.

Finally, the state asserts that <u>Gray</u> should be seen as equivalent to a prospective legislative repeal of the crime of attempted felony murder. This is not what <u>Gray</u> did. <u>Gray</u> recognized that <u>Amelotte</u> was wrongly decided. <u>Gray</u> holds that Justice Overton's dissent in <u>Amelotte</u> stated the more correct position. To Justice Overton, attempted murder without the

- 27 -

intent to kill was a logical impossibility. <u>Gray</u> is thus not a repeal; it is the correction of a misconception. In the most logical understanding of <u>Gray</u>, attempted felony murder has never been a crime.

<u>ISSUE II</u> THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING RESPONDENT'S <u>FRYE</u> OBJECTION TO TESTIMONY ABOUT THE STATISTICAL SIGNIFICANCE OF A DNA MATCH WHEN THE STATE'S EXPERT OMITTED A STEP OF THE NATIONAL RESEARCH COUNSEL PROCEDURE AND THE STATE FAILED TO ESTABLISH THAT THE PROCEDURE USED, WITHOUT THE OMITTED STEP, IS GENERALLY ACCEPTED IN THE SCIENTIFIC COMMUNITY.

In Vargas I, the First District distinguished between the general scientific acceptance of the method of comparing DNA samples to determine whether there is a match, and the lack of general acceptance of the methods used for determining a match's statistical significance. Vargas I reviewed scientific and legal literature and concluded that there was too much controversy over the reliability of the method Dr. Pollack had used to determine statistical significance to say that his method met the Frye test. As <u>Vargas I</u> recognized, the determination of the frequency in the general population of a combination of DNA alleles found in a sample (a DNA profile) by determining the frequency of each allele in a small database, and then multiplying the frequencies, is based on unproved assumptions of allele independence and random mating with no sub-populations. Generating statistics without taking those sources of error into account does not meet the <u>Frye</u> test. <u>Vargas I</u> ordered a remand for a determination of whether a more conservative method, such as that suggested by the National Research Council, is generally accepted in the scientific community and thus meets the Frye test. The National Research Council's recommendations were designed to lessen the potential error due to the possibility that the allele

- 29 -

independence and no sub-population assumptions are incorrect. NRC Report, pp. 74-95.⁵

Vargas I certified a guestion as to whether the method Dr. Pollack had used, or the modified NRC method, met the Frye test. In <u>Vargas II</u>, a majority of this Court did not reach the certified question, because there was a dispositive suppression Justice Overton, however, joined by Justice Wells, issue. dissented on the suppression issue, and addressed the Frve question. Justice Overton stated that the unadjusted method of determining the statistical significance of a DNA match lacked general acceptance in the scientific community, as the First District had concluded, but also indicated that the NRC method did not seem to command general acceptance either. Justice Overton would have remanded for a new Frye hearing, because of the trial judge's errors in excluding defense evidence and in applying the wrong standard for determining admissibility.

In this case, neither side asserted that the National Research Council's procedure lacked general acceptance. The state presented testimony that purported to be based on the NRC method. The defense challenged that evidence because it omitted

⁵In <u>Hayes v. State</u>, 660 So.2d 257 (Fla. 1995), this Court recognized that the National Research Council's disapproval of a DNA procedure is inconsistent with the procedure having general acceptance in the scientific community:

When a major voice in the scientific community, such as the National Research Council, recommends that corrections made due to band-shifting be declared "inconclusive," we must conclude that the test on the tank top is unreliable.

⁶⁶⁰ So.2d 264.

the first step of the NRC procedure. The question here is whether the state satisfied its burden of showing that the NRC procedure, without the omitted step, is a method of determining DNA match significance that is generally accepted in the scientific community.

The party objecting to novel scientific evidence has the burden of making the objection prior to trial, and of supporting the objection with "authorities indicating there may not be general scientific acceptance of the technique employed." <u>Correll v. State</u>, 523 So.2d 562,567 (Fla. 1988), <u>cert.den.</u> 488 U.S. 871 (1988). Once the issue is raised, the burden to establish that the technique is generally accepted is on the party offering the evidence. As stated in <u>Ramirez v. State</u>, 651 So. 2d 1164 (Fla. 1995):

> In utilizing the <u>Frye</u> test, the burden is on the proponent of the evidence to prove the general acceptance of both the underlying scientific principle and the testing procedures used to apply that principle to the facts of the case at hand. The trial judge has the sole responsibility to determine this question. The general acceptance under the Frye test must be established by a preponderance of the evidence.

651 So. 2d 1168.

Appellant properly raised the issue below, by moving before trial to exclude the state's DNA evidence. (R33-35). The defense motion relied on the NRC report, and on <u>Vargas I</u>. The motion specifically identified the failure to comply with the first step of the NRC procedure as the basis for the request that the DNA testimony be excluded. The defense motion was sufficient to indicate that there might not be general acceptance of the technique Dr. Pollack used, and was thus sufficient to raise the Frye issue.

The NRC report states:

The multiplication rule is based on the assumption that the population does not contain subpopulations with distinct allele frequencies--that each individual's alleles constitute statistically independent random selections from a common gene pool.

NRC Report, 77.

The key question underlying the use of the multiplication rule is whether actual populations have significant substructure for the loci used for forensic typing. This has provoked considerable debate among population geneticists ...

Although mindful of the controversy, the committee has chosen to assume for the sake of discussion that population substructure may exist and provide a method for estimating population frequencies in a manner that adequately accounts for it.

NRC Report, 79-80.

The NRC report called for additional research, including studies of 100 randomly chosen members from fifteen to twenty relatively homogenous subpopulations. (NRC Report, 83). The NRC recommended an approach, designated the ceiling principle, to correct for problems with the assumptions underlying the calculation of profile frequencies, and the ceiling principle was to use the results of the subpopulation studies to be conducted. Dr. Pollack testified in this case that the subpopulation studies called for by the NRC report had not yet been done, to his knowledge. (T180-181).

In the interim, the NRC recommended an approach designated the modified ceiling principle:

Until ceiling frequencies can be estimated from appropriate population studies, we recommend that estimates of population frequencies be based on existing data by applying conservative adjustments:

1. First, the testing laboratory should check to see that the observed multilocus genotype matches any sample in its population database. ...

2. The testing laboratory should then calculate an estimated population frequency on the basis of a conservative modification of the ceiling principle ... The calculation should be carried out as follows:

For each allele, a modified ceiling frequency should be determined by (1) calculating the 95% confidence limit for the allele frequency in each of the existing population samples and (2) using the largest of these values or 10%, whichever is larger.

Once the ceiling for each allele is determined, the multiplication rule should be applied. The race of the suspect should be ignored in performing these calculations.

NRC Report, pp. 91-92.

. .

Dr. Pollack testified that although the NRC prescribed procedure for the modified ceiling method was otherwise followed, the first step, checking to see if the multilocus DNA profile of the crime scene sample matched any sample in the database, was not done. Appellant's position, at trial and on appeal, is that the omission of this step deprives Dr. Pollack's statistical conclusion of <u>Frye</u> reliability, and that the results should therefore not have been admitted.

It was the state's burden, under <u>Ramirez</u>, to establish that

the technique used, without the first NRC step, was generally accepted in the scientific community. Dr. Pollack never testified that the NRC procedure without the omitted step is generally accepted. He did testify that he did not think the omitted step mattered:

> [REDIRECT] Dr. Pollack, you indicated you did not 0 use that first step that was recommended. That's correct. Α Does that affect the results that you Q would testify about? In no way. Α Has no bearing whatsoever on it? Q Α Other than the fact that that's an additional step that they recommended to look into the data bases that were originally prepared from individuals to see whether the profile that is in guestion here matches that in the data base. We don't have the ability to do that. We don't have the broad data from the FBI. So that's not something that we can do. So they have recommended something 0 that's impossible and their recommendation does not affect your results and your opinion and your testimony here today? In no way affects it. Α [RECROSS] If I could follow up. When you say it's 0 impossible, it's not impossible to do. It could be done. Not in my hands. It's impossible Α because I don't have the raw data. But, I mean, the raw data is accessible? Q Α Not by me. Well I understand you can't see it. 0 IS there any reason the scientists could not go up to wherever this is stored in Virginia and make these comparisons? Oh, the comparison could be made by the Α FBI, yes. It could be done but just not by you? Q Α Right. And you say that it would not affect 0 your testimony but certainly if you found two or three matching patterns in the FBI data base that would make a difference.

That, in my opinion, wouldn't happen. Α I know that's your opinion but you said it wouldn't make any difference if you went up there and examined the data bases. Tt. would make a difference if you found these patterns in the data base. Certainly, if it matched something in Α the data base, that would obviously change the results, yes. Now you don't know whether it matches 0 anything there or not? No. It's not something that I have А done.

(T182-184).

The omitted step of the NRC procedure would have been a check on Dr. Pollack's conclusions. If he had taken the omitted step, and the perpetrator's DNA profile had not been found in the FBI data base, this would not have affected his results. If the omitted step had been done, and the profile was found to match more than one sample in the FBI data base, this would affect his conclusion.⁶ Since Dr. Pollack conceded that, not having done the comparison, he could not say whether the pattern would be found in the FBI data base, his testimony is not that the omitted step had no effect. Rather, his testimony demonstrates that the omitted step could have changed the conclusion he testified to. In any event, Dr. Pollack's personal opinion as to the significance of the omitted step does not bear on the determinative question, whether the method Dr. Pollack used, without the omitted step, is generally accepted in the scientific

⁶Finding more than one sample that matched the perpetrator's DNA profile in a database of only about a thousand samples would cast doubt on Dr. Pollack's conclusion that the profile only occurs at a frequency of one in twenty million in the general population.

community. The state failed to meet its burden to show that Dr. Pollack's method was generally accepted. Thus, it was error to overrule Gibson's <u>Frye</u> objection.

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